
 

 
Page | 1  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 
   

 

 

 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

Meeting Minutes 
 

Monday, January 9, 2023 – 7:00 pm 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 

Commission Present:  Commissioners Crockett, Dawson, Derby, Gerber, Havel, and Tiernan 
 
Commission Absent: Commissioner Heath 
 
Staff Present:  Community Development Director Vicki Parker, Planning Manager Steve 
Marshall, City Attorney Jeff Walter, David Bergman (Lisa Wise Consulting), Ethan Stan (Lisa 
Wise Consulting), and Katie Green (Rincon Consultants) 
 

B. APPROVAL OF FINAL AGENDA 
 
 COMMISSION ACTION: Upon motion by Commissioner Dawson and seconded by 

Commissioner Derby, the Planning Commission voted 6-0-0-1 via roll call to approve 
the final agenda. 

 
 AYES:   Commissioners Crockett, Dawson, Derby, Gerber, Havel, and Tiernan 
 NOES:   None 
 ABSTAIN: None 

ABSENT:  Commissioner Heath 
 Motion carried. 
 
C. PUBLIC COMMENT - NONE 
  
D. CONSENT ITEM 
  

D.1. Meeting Minutes of November 28, 2022 (BC, DD, JD, RG, CH, LH, & PT) 
 

D.2. Meeting Minutes of December 12, 2022 (BC, DD, JD, RG, CH, LH, & PT) 
 
 

https://novato.org/


 

Page | 2  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

COMMISSION ACTION: Upon motion by Commissioner Derby and seconded by 
Commissioner Dawson, the Planning Commission voted 6-0-0-1 via roll call to approve 
the minutes of November 28, 2022, and December 12, 2022. 
 
AYES:  Commissioners Crockett, Dawson, Derby, Gerber, Havel, and Tiernan 
NOES:  None 
ABSTAIN: None 
ABSENT:  Commissioner Heath 
Motion carried. 
 

E. UNFINISHED AND OTHER BUSINESS - NONE 
 

F. PUBLIC HEARING 
    

F.1. Consideration of adoption of a resolution recommending City Council 
approval of an Addendum to the Novato General Plan 2035 Certified EIR and 
adoption of findings relating thereto; and, consideration of adoption of a 
resolution recommending the Novato City Council amend Novato General 
Plan 2035 by adopting the 6th Cycle Housing Element Update covering 2023-
2031 
 
Hold a public hearing to consider the following: 1) Adoption of a resolution 
recommending the City Council approve a California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) Addendum to the Novato General Plan 2035 certified Environmental Impact 
Report (EIR) and adopt findings relating thereto; and, 2) adoption of a resolution 
recommending the City Council amend Novato General Plan 2035 by adopting the 
6th Cycle Housing Element Update covering the planning period of 2023-2031. 
 
Director Parker introduced the item.  
 
Consultant Bergman gave a PowerPoint presentation addressing the housing 
element process, Novato’s progress towards meeting its Regional Housing Needs 
Allocation (RHNA), proposed rezone sites (noting Novato Unified School District 
site was removed), content of the draft Housing Element (goals, policies, and 
programs), public input, modifications to the first draft Housing Element, and next 
steps.  
 
Director Parker provided an overview of public comments on the draft Housing 
Element. She acknowledged concerns about parking, especially in Downtown. She 
stated state law greatly restricts the City’s ability to impose parking requirements. 
There were questions about the City rezoning more sites for housing. She 
commented the City is responsible for implementation and needs to carefully 
choose sites; HCD does not want sites recycled so there is a need to be strategic 
about what works this cycle and what might work next cycle. She noted there will 
be a joint study session regarding new State housing laws.  
 
 

https://novato.org/


 

Page | 3  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

Director Parker confirmed staff is recommending adoption of the draft Housing 
Element prior to HCD review. This circumstance is an issue of timing as the State 
and ABAG allocation process left the City with 7.5 months to complete a process 
that takes 18- to 20-months. This is the best course of action based on consultation 
with the City Attorney’s office.   
 
Chair Tiernan asked Director Parker if her last comments were responsive to a letter 
from Ms. Silva regarding the mandatory 90-day review prior to adopting a housing 
element.  
 
Director Parker confirmed her comments respond to Ms. Silva’s letter.  
 
Commissioner Derby asked to confirm whether only two sites are proposed to be 
rezoned.  
 
Director Parker clarified there are two official rezones proposed in the Housing 
Element and three others referenced in the resolution: Fireman’s Fund (777 San 
Marin), Valley Oaks, and 200 Landing Court.  
 
Commissioner Derby asked if a project or site is acknowledged in the Housing 
Element does it create an expectation you must provide this many homes or you’re 
in violation of state law.  
 
Director Parker said it depends on which project is discussed. If we were to rezone 
at 20 units per acre and were wrong in the assumption of what could be developed 
then it is necessary to identify other sites to make-up capacity.   
 
Commissioner Derby asked if it is common to include properties with a general plan 
designation such as office.  
 
Director Parker said several projects are not far enough along with zoning overlays 
to determine what general plan designation should apply. This will be addressed by 
the time of the rezones.  
 
Commissioner Derby asked about the “Builder’s Remedy.” 
 
City Attorney Walter referenced the Housing Accountability Act and its basic criteria 
related to the Builder’s Remedy.   
 
Commissioner Derby asked if there will be additional CEQA work for rezones. 
 
Director Parker explained there will be a programmatic EIR covering the rezone 
sites in the Housing Element and some additional projects. Individual projects would 
still have some CEQA related work, perhaps providing technical studies to evaluate 
subsequent CEQA requirements.  
 
Commissioner Gerber asked if Appendix C in Housing Element is a to-do list for 
staff. 

https://novato.org/


 

Page | 4  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

 
Director Parker confirmed Appendix C is basically a to-do list.  
 
Chair Tiernan asked about changes to the AFFH analysis.  
 
Consultant Bergman confirmed new data was provided related to AFFH. He 
explained HCD’s approach to reviewing housing elements – a  new or innovative 
program may become a standard for other communities. HCD will likely find other 
components its wants cities to include. We are aiming at a moving target.  
 
Chair Tiernan referenced the EIR for General Plan 2035 and noted it reflected 950 
potential units. However, the Housing Element calls for 2000 units. How is the 
environmental study for the General Plan still applicable even though we’re planning 
for substantially more units.  
 
Consultant Green explained the Housing Element does not include housing 
projects, but sets goals and policies to meet RHNA. The policy document would not 
directly result in the development of a specific site.  
 
Chair Tiernan clarified that additional units over 900 would get some environmental 
study. 
 
Director Parker stated ADUs and JADUs are assumed within the capacity of the 
General Plan. Then there are the mix of sites referenced in the Housing Element.  
Some sites have completed their own CEQA analysis and connect back to General 
Plan 2035. Other sites will prepare an environmental analysis connecting back to 
General Plan 2035.  
 
Chair Tiernan opened the public comment period. 
 
Riley Hurd, representing the Fireman’s Fund, noted concern about the Housing 
Element having a 98% reliance on pending projects. He confirmed HCD allows 
counting pending projects, but an agency must show the ability to deliver units 
based on three criteria. The Housing Element makes no hard and fast commitment 
on pending projects. He urged putting commitments into the Housing Element. He 
also expressed concern about exposure to a CEQA challenge.   
 
Chair Tiernan asked Mr. Hurd if we should have additional sites identified beyond 
the two proposed for rezoning.  
 
Riley Hurd said he thinks the Housing Element has a great sites lists. However, the 
table of pending projects makes up majority of units to meet RHNA. There needs to 
be more commitment to those properties to survive HCD review.  
 
Doug Fowler, representing Habitat for Humanity Greater San Francisco, expressed 
support for policies that address the housing crisis. He suggested the City consider 
a fee waiver or reduction policy.  
 

https://novato.org/


 

Page | 5  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

Gwen Anderson stated RHNA is exaggerated for the entire state at a time when we 
are having an exodus and unprecedented drought. Experiencing a rising cost of 
living and lower standard of living. Novato needs to join a lawsuit.  
 
Roberta Aragon stated she is concerned about parking on Grant Avenue due to 
dense housing on Grant Avenue. She asked about a parking garage. She said that  
turning blind eye to the parking issue is detrimental to Novato, especially its 
businesses. Think outside of the box to address this. 
 
Chair Tiernan closed the public comment period.  
 
Director Parker spoke to the issues raised by Mr. Hurd. If the Fireman’s Fund site 
were included in Housing Element there would be no other option to count it in the 
site inventory unless it were assumed to be developed at 20 units per acre. That is 
not what Bay West wants to build, not what we think will be built, nor what the 
community wants to see built there. The site was not included as a straight rezone, 
but instead could be addressed in an overlay with individual areas for development 
based on product type and density. That is why Fireman’s Fund and Valley Oaks 
don’t show-up on the list of rezones, not because we don’t want to take-up their 
rezoning - we don’t want 20-units per acre minimum across these sites. We are 
looking for what can realistically be achieved.  
 
Chair Tiernan referenced Mr. Hurd’s comments on commitment and timing. Have 
we ever done that. 
 
Director Parkers acknowledged HCD is pushing for more detail, but a lot of things 
are moving targets through reviews. To staff, a project application is a greater 
commitment than a rezone.  
 
Commissioner Derby asked why properties would be stuck with a minimum 20 units 
per acre.  
 
Director Parker explained Marin is a suburban community so the default density by 
statute is 20 units per acre.  
 
Chair Tiernan noted the developer of 1787 Grant wants to downzone the property.   
 
Director Parker stated staff has not had a chance to take-up that issue.  
 
Chair Tiernan asked if the request was unusual.  
 
Director Parker said the request is what we see on routine basis as the housing 
market changes.  
 
Chair Tiernan asked if there is anything to stop a property owner from doing 
something reduced from zoning.   
 
Director Parker stated the City incurs responsibility for no net loss in capacity.   

https://novato.org/


 

Page | 6  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

 
City Attorney Walter clarified HCD guidance is just that and the ultimate decision 
maker is the City. If the City disagrees with HCD comments then the City must 
explain why. If there is further dispute then the courts decide. The kind of 
commitment addressed by Mr. Hurd – time and schedule – is jumping into the EIR 
fire as there would be physical impacts. Committing to an approval and construction 
date is highly speculative.  
 
Director Parker stated we are waiting for HCD analysts to address the level of 
commitment; we expect comments on pipeline projects. 
 
Commissioner Gerber asked if sites are proposed for rezone then are you General 
Plan compliant if given green light by HCD. 
 
Director Parker stated housing element law allows rezoning to be a program of the 
housing element with implementation as a follow-on action. She explained some 
sites are in process – some already have their own track. A site that is not rezoned 
under the Housing Element would follow its own track. If the projects don’t advance 
then it is necessary to identify new sites. The two rezone sites will have 
accompanying general plan amendments.  
 
Chair Tiernan inquired about tenant protection programs and noted no conversation 
about rent stabilization.  
 
Director Parker stated the matter has been treated as an open-ended set of tenant 
protections that need to be developed, not limited to eviction policies. We will go 
through a normal ordinance process – identify issues, prepare drafts, and hold 
public review. She didn’t recall rent stabilization being raised.  
 
Chair Tiernan asked where we are with objective standards.  
 
Planning Manager Marshall explained that staff is working with a subcommittee of 
the Design Review Commission to work on citywide objective standards. He also 
stated separate objective standards are being developed for Fireman’s Fund and 
Valley Oaks. The plan is to bring objective standards with the rezones.   
 
The Commission thanked staff and the consultants for their effort on the Housing 
Element and working to meet the state deadline. 
 
COMMISSION ACTION: Upon motion by Commissioner Tiernan and seconded 
by Commissioner Crockett, the Planning Commission voted 6-0-0-1 via roll 
call to adopt the resolution recommending the City Council approve a 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Addendum to the Novato 
General Plan 2035 certified Environmental Impact Report (EIR) and adopt 
findings relating thereto for Novato’s 6th Cycle Housing Element. 
 
AYES:  Commissioners Crockett, Dawson, Derby, Gerber, Havel, and Tiernan 
NOES:  None 

https://novato.org/


 

Page | 7  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

ABSTAIN: None 
ABSENT:  Commissioner Heath 
Motion carried. 
 
COMMISSION ACTION: Upon motion by Commissioner Dawson and 
seconded by Commissioner Crockett, the Planning Commission voted 6-0-0-
1 via roll call to adopt the resolution recommending the City Council amend 
Novato General Plan 2035 by adopting the 6th Cycle Housing Element Update 
covering the planning period of 2023-2031. 
 
AYES:  Commissioners Crockett, Dawson, Derby, Gerber, Havel, and Tiernan 
NOES:  None 
ABSTAIN: None 
ABSENT:  Commissioner Heath 
Motion carried. 

G. GENERAL BUSINESS 
 

 NONE 
 
H. COMMITTEE AND LIAISON REPORTS  
 
 NONE  
 
I. ADJOURNMENT  
 
  The Planning Commission adjourned the meeting at 8:40 PM. 
 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing minutes were duly adopted at the Planning 
Commission meeting of March 13, 2023. 
  
/Steve Marshall/ 
Steve Marshall, Planning Manager 

https://novato.org/

